THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000584

RECEIVED

Sep 15 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Jimmie Foreman, as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Katie Dixon,.....Respondent,

v.

Shiloh Management Company, Inc, Pepper Hill Nursing Center, Inc., Pepper Hill
Nursing & Rehab Center, LLC d/b/a Pepper Hill Nursing & Rehab
Center,.....Appellants.

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Mark V. Gende, SC Bar No. 72835
Brandon R. Gottschall, SC Bar No. 100621
Sweeny Wingate & Barrow, P.A.
Post Office Box 12129
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803)256-2233
Attorneys for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT NO BINDING ARBITRATION AGREEMENT EXISTED?**
- II. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT RESPONDENT IS EQUITABLY ESTOPPED FROM DECLINING TO PARTICIPATE IN ARBITRATION?**
- III. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO COMPEL ARBITRATION WHERE MS. DIXON WAS A THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY OF THE ADMISSION AGREEMENT?**
- IV. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN MAKING CERTAIN FACTUAL FINDINGS IN ITS ORDER DECLINING TO COMPEL ARBITRATION?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 12, 2019, Respondent filed an action against Appellants alleging Appellants were negligent in providing nursing home care to Ms. Katie Dixon, who was a resident at Pepper Hill Rehab and Nursing Center (“Pepper Hill”) from May 19, 2016 to November 25, 2016. (R. p. ____; Complaint ¶¶ 95, 104). On January 21, 2020, in lieu of an Answer, Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss and to Compel Arbitration. (R. p. ____; Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration).¹ The Circuit Court conducted a hearing on the Motions to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on March 2, 2020.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court requested proposed orders from the parties. On March 12, 2020, Appellants and Respondents e-filed proposed orders with the trial court. (R. p. ____; Appellants’ Proposed Order on Motion to Compel Arbitration; Respondent’s Proposed Order on Motion to Compel Arbitration).

On March 25, 2020, the Court entered an Order Denying Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. (R. p. ____; Order Denying Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration).

Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider on March 30, 2020. (R. p. ____; Motion to Reconsider). The Court denied the Motion to Reconsider in a Form 4 Order on March 31, 2020. (R. p. ____; Form 4 Order Denying Motion to Reconsider).

Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on April 3, 2020. (R. p. ____; Notice of Appeal).

¹ A similar motion to dismiss and compel arbitration was also filed by The Place At Pepper Hill LLC, and Pepper Hill Senior Properties, LLC D/B/A The Place At Pepper Hill, both of whom have since been dismissed from this action. (R. p. ____; The Place At Pepper Hill LLC’s Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration). Following the trial court’s hearing on the motions, a stipulation of dismissal was entered on March 20, 2020, as to The Place At Pepper Hill, LLC and Pepper Hill Senior Properties, LLC D/B/A The Place At Pepper Hill. (R. p. ____; Stipulation of Dismissal).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review.” *Stokes v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 606, 609, 571 S.E.2d 711, 713 (Ct. App. 2002). “However, the circuit court's factual findings will not be overruled if there is any evidence reasonably supporting them.” *Id.* at 610, 571 S.E.2d at 713.

FACTS

Jimmie Foreman, as Personal Representative for the Estate of Katie Dixon (“Respondent”) alleges Appellants were negligent in providing nursing home care to Ms. Dixon, who was a resident at Pepper Hill Rehab and Nursing Center (“Pepper Hill”) from May 19, 2016 until she died on November 25, 2016. (R. p. ____; Complaint ¶¶ 95, 104). Upon admission, Ms. Dixon’s representative and biological daughter, Rhonda Thames, entered into an Admission Agreement (“Agreement”). The Admission Agreement included an arbitration provision and the heading of every page of the Agreement states:

THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO MANDATORY ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT, AND IF THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT IS INAPPLICABLE, THE UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT, SECTION 15-48-10, ET. SEQ., CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA (1976), AS AMENDED.

Ms. Thames expressly represented that she was “authorized by the Resident to act on the Resident’s behalf.” (R. p. ____, Admission Agreement at 12). Respondents provided Ms. Dixon residency and care for over six months in reliance on this agreement. (R. p. ____; Complaint ¶¶ 95, 104).

Respondent’s Complaint alleges causes of action arising out of Ms. Dixon’s residency, care, and treatment at Pepper Hill. Specifically, prior to Ms. Dixon’s admission to Pepper Hill, Ms. Dixon had developed gangrene in an arterial wound to her right leg, which resulted in an

above-the-knee amputation on July 5, 2016. (*See* R. p. ____; Complaint ¶¶ 95, 96). Over the course of the next several months, Respondents allege that Ms. Dixon developed several pressure ulcers and that by October 27, 2016, Ms. Dixon was diagnosed with sepsis as a result of her infected right leg stump and multiple stage 4 ulcers. (R. p. ____; Complaint ¶¶ 97-99). Respondent further alleges that the pressure sores that developed and led to sepsis were “avoidable and the direct and proximate result of Defendants’ substandard care and negligent care and treatment.” (*See* R. p. ____; Complaint ¶ 105).

Respondent filed suit alleging causes of action for negligence, wrongful death, and survivorship. Appellant moved to compel arbitration based on the Arbitration provision in the Admission Agreement. (R. p. ____; Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration). The trial court denied the motion on March 25, 2020. (R. p. ____; Order Denying Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration). This appeal follows.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT NO BINDING ARBITRATION AGREEMENT EXISTED.

In the present case, it is undisputed that Ms. Dixon’s biological daughter, Ms. Thames, executed the Admission Agreement, which included the Arbitration provision. As a result, the first question at issue is whether Ms. Thames had the authority to execute the Admission Agreement. Because the trial court erred in finding that there was no evidence that Ms. Thames had actual or apparent authority to enter the agreement and in failing to compel arbitration, and because Ms. Thames had authority to execute the Admission Agreement, the trial court’s order should be reversed and this matter should be compelled to arbitration.

a. Ms. Thames, the Signatory to the Admission Agreement, had Actual or Apparent Authority to Execute the Admission Agreement, which Included the Arbitration Provision.

“Agency is a fiduciary relationship which results from the manifestation of consent by one person to another to be subject to the control of the other and to act on his behalf.” *Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Myrtle Beach Golf & Yacht Club*, 310 S.C. 132, 145, 425 S.E.2d 764, 773 (Ct. App. 1992). “An agreement may result in the creation of an agency relationship although the parties did not call it an agency and did not intend the consequences of the relationship to follow.” *Id.* The agency relationship “may be proved by circumstantial evidence showing a course of dealing between the two parties.” *Id.*

Actual authority may be either express or implied. *Roberson v. S. Fin. of S.C., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 10, 615 S.E.2d 112, 115 (2005). On the other hand, “[a]pparent authority to do an act is created as to a third person by written or spoken words *or any other conduct of the principal* which, reasonably interpreted, causes the third person to believe the principal consents to have the act done on his behalf by the person purporting to act for him.” *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 47, 748 S.E.2d 625, 630 (Ct. App. 2013) (emphasis in original).

“[T]he elements which must be proven to establish apparent agency are: (1) that the purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be his agent; (2) that there was a reliance upon the representation; and (3) that there was a change of position to the relying party's detriment.” *Id.* “The first element of apparent agency can be established by either: (1) affirmative conduct or (2) conscious and voluntary inaction.” *Id.* “Under the first of these two scenarios, the principal makes direct representations to a third party that another has authority to act on his behalf.” *Id.* at 48, 748 S.E.2d at 630. This can be accomplished by “written or spoken words or any other conduct of the principal” that shows consent to allow another to act on the

principal's behalf. *Id.* (citing *Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 240, 244–45, 473 S.E.2d 865, 868 (Ct.App.1996)). Under the second of these two scenarios, “the principal implies authority by passively permitting another to appear to third parties to have authority to act on his behalf.” *Froneberger*, 406 S.C. at 48, 748 S.E.2d at 630. Also, “[a]gency may be implied or inferred and may be circumstantially proved by the conduct of the purported agent exhibiting a pretense of authority with the knowledge of the alleged principal.” *Id.* (citing *Fernander v. Thigpen*, 278 S.C. 140, 143, 293 S.E.2d 424, 426 (1982)).

In the present case, the evidence ably demonstrates that Ms. Thames had actual or apparent authority to execute the Admission Agreement to admit Ms. Dixon to Pepper Hill.

First, the evidence demonstrates that Ms. Thames was Ms. Dixon's actual agent. Among other things, (1) Ms. Dixon had her daughter accompany her to Pepper Hill for the specific purpose “of having [Ms. Dixon] admitted as a resident to the Pepper Hill nursing home,” (R. p. _____, Affidavit of Rhonda Thames at ¶ 4); (2) Respondent's counsel represented that while Ms. Dixon had capacity to sign the agreement, Ms. Dixon “got her biological daughter,” apparently for the purpose of signing for her, (*see* R. p. _____, Transcript of Hearing at 14:12); (3) the Admissions Agreement, which is a signed writing executed by Ms. Thames, represents that Ms. Thames was “authorized by the Resident to act on the Resident's behalf,” (R. p. _____, Admission Agreement at 12); and (4) Ms. Dixon then accepted admission and other benefits under the contract, as was her goal in having her daughter accompany her to Pepper Hill that day. These actions demonstrate that Ms. Thames was Ms. Dixon's actual agent in relation to the Admission Agreement.

Second, the above actions demonstrate Ms. Thames' apparent agency through affirmative conduct. For example, by specifically seeking to be admitted to Pepper Hill on May 19, 2016,

showing up at the nursing home with her daughter accompanying her, and getting her daughter to sign the agreement, Ms. Dixon's affirmative conduct showed consent to allow another to act on her behalf. Further, by then accepting admission to Pepper Hill and staying at Pepper Hill for over six months, to the detriment of Pepper Hill which relied on the agreement to provide Ms. Dixon benefits under the agreement, Ms. Dixon further engaged in conduct showing consent to Ms. Thames' execution of the agreement.

Third, the evidence also shows that Ms. Dixon passively permitted Ms. Thames to act on her behalf. Ms. Dixon's conduct in allowing her daughter to sign the paperwork, particularly when combined with Ms. Dixon's acceptance of the benefits of admission, is at the very least passive permission to Ms. Thames to act in a way that would reasonably suggest to third parties that Ms. Thames had the authority to act. Further, by expressly representing that she was authorized by the Resident to act on the Resident's behalf, Ms. Thames, the purported agent, exhibited a pretense of authority with Ms. Dixon's knowledge, obtaining Ms. Dixon's admission to Pepper Hill which was, in fact, Ms. Dixon's goal on May 19, 2016. *Fernander*, 278 S.C. at 293 S.E.2d at 426 (“[A]gency may be implied or inferred and may be circumstantially proved by the conduct of the purported agent exhibiting a pretense of authority with the knowledge of the alleged principal.”). (See also R. p. _____, Affidavit of Rhonda Thames at ¶ 4; R. p. _____, Admission Agreement at 12). After admission, Ms. Dixon remained at Pepper Hill for over six months, accepting and retaining services including room accommodations, food services, professional nursing services, therapy, housekeeping, and others. (See R. p. _____, Admission Agreement at 2).

Fourth, other factors also demonstrate that Ms. Thames had authority to execute the agreement. In assisting her mother to be admitted to Pepper Hill, Ms. Thames took a number of

steps and provided information of a nature that represents she was authorized by Ms. Dixon to act as her agent: (1) she identified Ms. Dixon's attending physician, (R. p. _____, Admission Agreement at 2); (2) she signed to certify that information provided in relation to payment under the Social Security act is correct and authorized release of medical or other information to the Social Security Administration, and requested that payment or authorized benefits be made, (R. p. _____, Admission Agreement at 7); (3) she obtained Ms. Dixon's admission to Pepper Hill that same day by completing and executing the Admission Agreement, which was specifically the reason Ms. Dixon had Ms. Thames accompany her that day, (R. p. _____, Affidavit of Rhonda Thames); and (4) she has never denied that Ms. Dixon authorized her to execute the Admissions Agreement, (R. p. _____, Affidavit of Rhonda Thames (containing nine paragraphs of information but never denying that Ms. Dixon authorized her to execute the Admission Agreement)).

In sum, the circumstantial and direct evidence indicates that Ms. Thames had actual or apparent authority to execute the Admission Agreement and admit Ms. Dixon to Pepper Hill. The trial court, however, not only declined to enforce arbitration, but instead found there was *no* evidence of either actual or apparent authority. The trial court's findings were in error. As a result, the trial court's order should be reversed, and this matter should be compelled to arbitration.

b. Even had Ms. Dixon lacked capacity, Ms. Thames had Authority to Execute the Admission Agreement, which Included the Arbitration Provision.

In the alternative, even had Ms. Dixon lacked capacity to execute the Admission Agreement, Ms. Thames would have had statutory authority to sign for Ms. Dixon under the Adult Health Care Consent Act ("Adult Health Care Act"), S.C. Code Ann. ¶ 44-66-10 *et seq.*

(R. p. _____, Appellants’ Memorandum in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration (discussing *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014)), Appellants’ Proposed Order Granting Motion to Compel Arbitration). Specifically, Ms. Thames had authority under the Act because she was the adult child available for consultation, and because Ms. Dixon had no court-appointed guardian, attorney in fact, or spouse. *See also Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 351, 755 S.E.2d at 453 (“Sister was authorized to make health care decisions for Decedent... because Decedent had no guardian or attorney-in-fact, no other individual had statutory priority, and she had neither a spouse, a parent, nor an adult child.”).

Ms. Thames’ authority under the Act to make health care decisions for Ms. Dixon included the authority to execute the arbitration provision that was part of the Admission Agreement. *See, e.g., THI of S.C. at Magnolia Manor-Inman, LLC v. Gilbert*, No. CIV.A. 7:13-2929-BHH, 2015 WL 1268185, at *2 (D.S.C. Mar. 19, 2015). In *THI*, the court distinguished, *Coleman*, in which the court denied a motion to compel arbitration. Specifically, the *Coleman* court found that the sister of the decedent had been authorized under the Adult Health Care Consent Act to make decisions concerning the decedent’s health care. *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 351, 755 S.E.2d at 453. However, that authority did not extend to executing an optional arbitration agreement that was *separate* from the admissions agreement. *Id.* at 354, 755 S.E.2d at 454. The court in *THI* distinguished *Coleman* because unlike the separate arbitration and admissions agreements in *Coleman*, “the admission agreement [at issue in *THI*] contained the arbitration provision.” *THI*, 2015 WL 1268185, at *2 (emphasis in original). The court found that a representative’s authority to sign an arbitration agreement “is simply not implicated” where the arbitration and admissions terms were contained in the same agreement, and thus the arbitration provision was enforceable. *Id.* *See also Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 51, 784 S.E.2d

679, 684 (Ct. App. 2016) (noting that *Coleman* involved an arbitration agreement *separate* from the admissions agreement).

Because the Arbitration provision in the Admission Agreement executed by Ms. Thames was not a separate, optional arbitration contract, (*see* R. p. _____, Affidavit of Rhonda Thames), Ms. Thames' authority under the Adult Health Care Consent Act would have extended to the arbitration provision. *See THI*, 2015 WL 1268185, at *2.

For these reasons, even had Ms. Dixon lacked capacity, the arbitration provision would be binding, and the trial court erred in declining to compel arbitration.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT RESPONDENT IS EQUITABLY ESTOPPED FROM DECLINING TO PARTICIPATE IN ARBITRATION.

While Appellants contend that an enforceable contract existed, equitable estoppel in the form of direct-benefits estoppel would apply even in the absence of an enforceable contract. In the present case, as to equitable estoppel, the trial court erred in applying a general equitable estoppel framework rather than the direct-benefits estoppel framework. (R. p. _____, Order Denying Appellants' Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration at 6-8). In addition, the trial court erred in finding that Appellants failed to provide evidence that Ms. Dixon received a direct benefit under the contract. (R. p. _____, Order Denying Appellants' Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration at 6-8).

Applied to arbitration, the doctrine of direct-benefits equitable estoppel "recognizes that a party may be estopped from asserting that the lack of [their] signature on a written contract precludes enforcement of the contract's arbitration clause when he has consistently maintained that the other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit him." *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 59, 784 S.E.2d at 688 (citing *Pearson v. Hilton head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 290, 733

S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2012)). “In other words, ‘[w]hen a signatory seeks to enforce an arbitration agreement against a non-signatory, the doctrine estops the non-signatory from claiming that he is not bound to the arbitration agreement when he receives a “direct benefit” from a contract containing an arbitration clause.’” *Id.*

Applying South Carolina state law, the court in *THI of South Carolina at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins* found a nursing home resident’s estate was equitably estopped from disclaiming the enforceability of the arbitration provision contained in the admissions contract. *THI of South Carolina at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins*, 2011 WL 4089435 (D.S.C. 2011). In *Wiggins*, a daughter executed an admissions contract to a nursing home on behalf of her father. Following the death of the father and a subsequent filing of suit, the nursing home moved to compel arbitration. *Id.* at *2. The father’s estate argued that the arbitration provision was unenforceable because no evidence existed that the daughter had the “authority to act as her father’s agent, to legally bind her father, or waive her father’s right to a jury trial.” *Id.* at *5. In holding that it would be inequitable for the estate to avoid the arbitration provision within the admissions contract, the court noted the father received the benefits provided under the admissions contract and the nursing home performed in reliance on the terms of the agreement. *Id.* at *6.

Regarding the direct benefits provided to Ms. Dixon, the Admission Agreement executed by Ms. Thames on Ms. Dixon’s behalf served as the foundation for Ms. Dixon’s admission to Pepper Hill. It contained the duties and obligations which the parties had to one another. (R. p. _____, Admission Agreement at 2). Pursuant to the Admission Agreement, Respondents provided Ms. Dixon with residency, care, and other benefits for over six months, which are precisely the benefits Ms. Thames and Ms. Dixon sought. (R. p. _____, Affidavit of Rhonda

Thames at ¶ 4, indicating that she and Ms. Dixon went to Pepper Hill “for the purposes of having [Ms. Dixon] admitted as a resident”).

After the execution of the Agreement, Ms. Dixon became a resident of Pepper Hill, and as such, received the benefits provided for in the Agreement. Respondent’s claims as alleged in this matter all arise out of her residency and care at Pepper Hill. It is inequitable to permit Respondent to disclaim the arbitration clause, which is part of the Admission Agreement, after Pepper Hill performed in reliance on the Admission Agreement for over six months.

To the extent the trial court relied on *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 563, 813 S.E.2d 292, 302 (Ct. App. 2018), and its discussion of whether the resident in that case received a benefit under the admissions agreement, the trial court’s order is further in error. The trial court cited dicta in *Hodge* considering whether the resident would have been considered to have received benefits under the admissions agreement had the admissions agreement and arbitration agreement in that case been merged. Specifically, the *Hodge* court stated the following:

Because Mable, Husband, and the Estate received no benefit from the Arbitration Agreement, equitable estoppel would only apply if documents were merged. The only agreement from which Respondents even arguably received a benefit was the Admission Agreement because Mable was admitted to the Facility as a result of it. **However, because the Facility allegedly caused Mable's injuries that later led to her death, we find it difficult to find she benefited even from being admitted.**

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