The State of South Carolina
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Nov 12 2020

Appeal from the Aiken County
Court of Common Pleas
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2020-000584

Jimmie Foreman, as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Katie Dixon.....Respondent,

v.

Shiloh Management Company, Inc, Pepper Hill Nursing Center,
Inc., Pepper Hill Nursing & Rehab Center, LLC d/b/a Pepper Hill
Nursing & Rehab Center, the Place at Pepper Hill, LLC, Pepper
Hill Senior Properties, LLC d/b/a The Place at Pepper Hill.....Defendants,

Of which Shiloh Management Company, Inc., Pepper Hill Nursing

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

Arguments

The primary issue in this appeal is whether Rhonda Thames had authority to bind Katie Dixon's estate to an arbitration agreement. The circuit court correctly held she did not and that the alleged claims are not subject to arbitration. The estate is not bound by the terms of the arbitration clause because, among other reasons, Katie Dixon did not sign the agreement. Her daughter, who lacked authority, signed the contract. Thus, the claims brought by the estate are not required to be arbitrated, as Katie Dixon did not consent to arbitration and Rhonda Thames lacked authority to bind Kate Dixon to arbitration. No claim is brought to enforce the contract, the estate is not a third-party beneficiary to the contract, and the estate cannot be estopped from arguing the arbitration provision is unenforceable. The circuit court properly reviewed the arguments of the Appellants and correctly decided not to compel arbitration.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE ADMISSION AND ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WAS UNENFORCEABLE.

The circuit court correctly held that Katie Dixon was not bound by the admission and arbitration agreement because there was not sufficient evidence or clearly established facts of an express or implied agency relationship between Katie Dixon and Rhonda Thames. (R. ____, Order, p. 2). Agency may only be established with clear evidence of actual or apparent authority conferred by the principal on the alleged agent. *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 39, 619 S.E.2d 437, 448 (Ct. App. 2005). The party asserting an agency relationship has the burden of proof. *Pee Dee Nursing Home, Inc. v. Florence Gen. Hosp.*, 309 S.C. 80, 85, 419 S.E.2d 834, 837 (Ct. App. 1992). The burden is not to make a mere prima facie showing but rather to show that agency is "clearly established by the facts." *Id.* South Carolina law imposes this weighty burden because a person dealing with an alleged agent has a legal duty of due care to determine the scope of the perceived agent's authority. *Id.* (citing *McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 362 S.E.2d 26 (Ct. App. 1987)).

In South Carolina, there is no presumption of agency between family members. *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 565, 813 S.E.2d 292, 304 (Ct. App. 2018)(quoting *Bankers Tr. of S.C. v. Bruce*, 283 S.C. 408, 423, 323 S.E.2d 523, 532 (Ct. App. 1984)) (“The relationship of agency between a husband and wife is governed by the same rules which apply to other agencies[,] . . . [and] no presumption arises from the mere fact of the marital relationship.”). “The existence of an agency relationship is . . . determined by the relation, the situation, the conduct, and the declarations of the party sought to be charged as principal.” *Id.*(quoting *Langdale v. Carpets*, 395 S.C. 194, 201, 717 S.E.2d 80, 83 (Ct. App. 2011)). “[A]n agency may not be established solely by the declarations and conduct of an alleged agent.” *Id.*(quoting *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 39-40, 619 S.E.2d 437, 448 (Ct. App. 2005)).

A. Rhonda Thames Did Not Have Actual Authority To Enter Into The Agreement On Katie Dixon’s Behalf.

Because the record does not contain clearly established facts demonstrating that Katie Dixon granted her daughter actual authority, the circuit court appropriately concluded Rhonda Thames lacked actual authority to sign the admission and arbitration agreement on behalf of Katie Dixon. Appellants bear the burden of establishing all required elements to prove an agency relationship. *Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 240, 244, 473 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 1996). Appellants had the duty to ascertain the scope, if any, of the purported agent with whom they dealt. *Id.* Agency is a “fiduciary relationship which results from the manifestation of consent by one person to another to be subject to the control of the other and to act on his behalf.” *Peoples Fed. Savs. & Loan Ass’n v. Myrtle Beach Golf & Yacht Club*, 310 S.C. 132, 145, 425 S.E.2d 764, 733 (Ct. App. 1992) (citing Restatement (Second) of Agency § 1 (1958)).

In *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals reviewed the circuit court’s denial of a nursing home’s motion to compel arbitration where

a husband signed the nursing home’s admission and arbitration documents when his wife was competent at the time of admission. *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 550, 813 S.E.2d 292, 296-97 (Ct. App. 2018). The nursing home “argued the evidence showed [the wife] authorized [the husband] to sign on her behalf and they had an actual or apparent agency relationship” and he “was authorized to act on her behalf by ‘allowing’ him to procure her admission to the . . . [nursing home].” *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 573, 813 S.E.2d at 308. The *Hodge* Court ultimately concluded that the husband’s “signing of the [a]rbitration [a]greement, [a]dmissions [a]greement, and other forms [did] not make him his [wife’s] agent.” *Id.*, 422 S.C. at 573-74, 813 S.E.2d at 308. In finding there was no actual authority, *Hodge* noted that the nursing home was unable to produce evidence that the wife granted any express authority to her husband, the wife was competent during the admission process, and the wife did not have a health care power of attorney. *Id.*

As in *Hodge*, Appellants inappropriately directed a family member to sign the admission and arbitration documents when the resident had mental capacity. (R. p. ____, Transcript of Hearing, pp. 7:20-8:6; 13:9-14). There is no evidence in the record demonstrating that Katie Dixon lacked capacity. (R. p. ____, Transcript of Hearing, pp. 7:20-8:6; 13:9-14)(when specifically asked about Ms. Dixon’s state of mind, Appellants’ counsel replied: “well, my opposing counsel might have a better idea of that.”). There is also no evidence of Katie Dixon granting express authority to sign the Appellants’ admission and arbitration agreement. There are no documents executed by Ms. Dixon that would confer actual authority to Rhonda Thames; no durable power of attorney, healthcare power of attorney, or other document permitting her daughter to enter into contracts exist. (R. p. ____, Aff. of Rhonda Thames, ¶ 9). Likewise, the record is void of evidence reflecting any action taken by Katie Dixon to confer actual authority upon Rhonda Thames.

Appellants instead make unfounded arguments that Thames had actual authority, asserting Katie Dixon brought Rhonda Thames “apparently for the purpose of signing for her.” (Appellants’ Initial Brief). In support of this argument, Appellants cite to no evidence, instead only citing the following from the hearing transcript “we believe she had capacity and she would have been the appropriate individual, Ms. Dickson [sic], to sign the admission agreement, however, [the admissions nurse and not Katie Dixon] got her biological daughter, and again, this was presented to her on that day on the take it or leave it basis, the terms were not negotiable and further, she’s not a lawyer.” (R. p. _____. Transcript of Hearing at 14:9-15). Likewise, Appellants rely upon the actions of Rhonda Thames, executing the admission and arbitration agreement, and Katie Dixon’s accepting admission as proof of actual authority. These arguments are disingenuous and invalid.

The facts and evidence here are simple; Appellants only presented the admission and arbitration agreement as evidence in support of their motion to compel arbitration. That agreement does not show actual authority. Actual authority is “expressly conferred upon the agent by the principal.” *Richardson v. PV, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 615, 682 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2009). Appellants cannot point to any document showing Katie Dixon conferred authority to Rhonda Thames. No such document exists. (R. p. _____. Aff. Rhonda Thames ¶ 9) (“[Katie Dixon] never signed a durable power of attorney or any other document allowing me to enter into contracts or formal agreements. She never signed a healthcare power of attorney.”). Appellants had the burden of proof to establish actual authority through clearly established facts. *Pee Dee Nursing Home, Inc. v. Florence Gen. Hosp.*, 309 S.C. 80, 85, 419 S.E.2d 834, 837 (Ct. App. 1992). They failed to do so. Therefore, the circuit court’s holding that Rhonda Thames lacked actual authority is supported by the record and should be affirmed on appeal.

B. The South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act Did Not Confer Authority to Rhonda Thames.

The Adult Health Care Consent Act (“the Act”) did not confer authority to Rhonda Thames and the circuit court properly concluded that Respondent is not bound to the admission and arbitration agreement under the Act’s provisions. The Act’s primary purpose is to identify and authorize individuals to make “decisions concerning . . . health care” on behalf of a person “unable to consent.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A). The Act intends “to insure that the patient’s wishes concerning her medical treatment are honored whenever possible.” *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 353, 755 S.E.2d 450, 454 (2014). The Act expressly limits the decision-making power of an individual to only “health care” decisions. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A).

The Act governs “who may make health care decisions for patient[s] who are [unable] to consent” or “appreciate the nature and implications of [their] condition and proposed health care, to make a reasoned decision concerning the proposed health care, or communicate that decision in an unambiguous manner.” *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 351, 755 S.E.2d 450, 453 (2014) (*quoting* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20). “A patient’s inability to consent must be certified by two licensed physicians, each of whom have examined the patient.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20(8).

In the present case, there is no evidence that Katie Dixon lacked capacity or the ability to sign the admission and arbitration agreement. The record does not reflect and Appellants have not demonstrated that two physicians examined Katie Dixon prior to her admission and certified that she (1) was unable to consent to her own healthcare decisions and (2) was unable to personally sign Appellants’ admission and arbitration agreement. Without the certification of two examining physicians, Appellants’ agreement is not enforceable under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act. *See Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450

(2014)(quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20). Moreover, the Act does not confer authority to waive a patient's right to a jury trial. Its scope is limited to health care decisions. *See generally, Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 353, 755 S.E.2d 450, 454 (2014).

Appellants' reliance on the Bill of Rights for Residents of Long-Term Care Facilities (*See* R. pp. ___; Appellants' Memorandum in Support) was likewise unfitting as S.C. Code Ann. § 44-81-10 et. seq. confers no authority on family members or next of kin to execute contracts or make healthcare decisions. *Compare* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20 (providing that when a person is unable to consent, certain persons may be able to make healthcare decisions on their behalf), *with* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-81-40 (requiring notice be sent to resident and representative). In the present matter, the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act provides the governing authority and guidelines as to when family members may execute documents concerning health care decisions. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20. Its competency determination requirements were not met, and thus the Act does not apply.

Because there is no evidence in the record that Katie Dixon lacked the requisite capacity to sign the admission and arbitration agreement, Rhonda Thames had no authority to sign that agreement under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act. Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the order of the circuit court on this issue.

C. The Record Does Not Reflect Any Clearly Established Facts Proving That Rhonda Thames Had Apparent Authority To Enter Into Any Agreement.

Appellants have failed to produce sufficient evidence establishing the necessary elements of apparent authority. Apparent authority is based on “. . . representations made by the principal to [a] third party and reliance by the third party on those representations.” *Young v. S.C. Dept. of Disabilities & Special Needs*, 374 S.C. 360, 367, 649 S.E.2d 488, 491 (2007). “Either the principal must intend to cause the third person to believe that the agent is authorized to act for him, or he

should realize that his conduct is likely to create such belief.” *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 55, 784 S.E.2d 679, 685 (Ct. App. 2016)(quoting *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 47, 748 S.E.2d 625, 630 (Ct. App. 2013)).

The burden of establishing agency is upon the party asserting a principal-agent relationship exists. *Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 240, 244, 473 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 1996). “It is the duty of the one dealing with the agent to use due care to ascertain the scope of the agent’s authority.” *Justus v. Universal Credit Co.*, 189 S.C. 487, 495, 1 S.E.2d 508, 511 (1939). The party seeking to establish apparent authority must prove “. . . (1) the purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be his agent; (2) the proponent relied on the representation; and (3) there was a change of position to the [proponent’s] detriment.” *Thompson*, 406 S.C. at 54, 748 S.E.2d at 685 (quoting *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 47, 748 S.E.2d 625, 630 (Ct. App. 2013)). South Carolina law states that an agency relationship cannot be established solely by the words and actions of the purported agent. *Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 39, 619 S.E.2d 437, 448 (Ct. App. 2005). “The proper focus in determining a claim of apparent authority is not on the relationship between the principal and the agent, but on that between the principal and the third party.” *R&G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg’l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 432-33, 540 S.E.2d 113, 118 (Ct. App. 2000)(citing *Vereen v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 306 S.C. 423, 412 S.E.2d 425 (Ct. App. 1991)). None of the authorities cited by Appellants dispute this principle. However, the only evidence Appellants presented was the admission and arbitration agreement containing a single signature of Rhonda Thames. Appellants offered no affidavits or other evidence as to statements, representations, writings, or actions of Katie Dixon, the purported principal.

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